ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE RESOURCES STANDI NG COW TTEE
May 7, 2003
3:37 p.m

MVEMBERS PRESENT

Senat or Scott Ogan, Chair

Senat or Thomas Wagoner, Vice Chair
Senat or Fred Dyson

Senat or Ral ph Seeki ns

Senator Ben Stevens

Senat or Ceor gi anna Lincoln

MEMBERS ABSENT
Senator Kim El ton
COW TTEE CALENDAR

APPO NTMENT OF MR RUPERT ANDREWS TO THE ALASKA BOARD OF
FI SHERI ES
CONFI RVATI ON ADVANCED

CS FOR HOUSE BILL NO 61(FIN)

"An Act establishing an exploration and devel opnent incentive

tax credit for operators and working interest owners directly

engaged in the exploration for and devel opnent of gas for sale

and delivery wthout reference to volune from a |ease or

property in the state; and providing for an effective date.™
HEARD AND HELD

CS FOR HOUSE BILL NO 118(RES) am
"An Act relating to the transportation and sale of certain
comercially caught fish by an agent of a comrercial fishing
permt holder and to the sale of fish; and providing for an
effective date."

SCHEDULED BUT NOT HEARD
PREVI QUS ACTI ON
HB 61 - No previous action to record.

HB 118 - See Labor and Commerce mnminutes dated 4/8/03 and
4/ 15/ 03.

W TNESS REG STER

SENATE RES COW TTEE -1- May 7, 2003



M. Rupert Andrews
Juneau, Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Al aska Board of Fisheries nom nee

Representative M ke Chenaul t

Al aska State Capitol

Juneau, AK 99801-1182

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Sponsor of HB 61

M. Mark G aber

Tax Audit Division

Depart ment of Revenue

PO Box 110400

Juneau, AK 99811-0400

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answer ed questions about CSHB 61(FIN)

M. Chuck Logsdon

Depart ment of Revenue

PO Box 110400

Juneau, AK 99811-0400

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answer ed questions about CSHB 61(FIN) and
said the Adm nistration takes no position on CSHB 61( FI N)

M. Kevin Tabl er

Manager, Land and Govt. Affairs

Union Q| Conpany of California (Unocal)
909 W 9th Ave

Anchor age, Al aska 99501

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supports CSHB 61(FI N)

M. John A Barnes, P.E

Al aska Busi ness Unit Manager

Mar at hon G| Conpany

PO Box 196168

Anchorage, AK 99519

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supports CSHB 61( FI N)

ACTI ON NARRATI VE
TAPE 03-42, SIDE A
CHAI R SCOIT OGAN called the Senate Resources Standing Conmmttee

neeting to order at 3:37 p.m Al nenbers were present except
Senat or Elton, who was excused.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 2- May 7, 2003



CONFI RVATI ON: - BOARD OF FI SHERI ES

CHAIR OGAN invited M. Andrews to cone before the commttee and
asked himwhy he wanted to serve on the Board of Fisheries.

MR. RUPERT ANDREWS, nom nee to the Alaska Board of Fisheries
asked to first read the follow ng statenent.

First and forenost, being on the Board of Fisheries, |
see that product quality should be inproved and
enhanced in all commercial fisheries, [that] high
recreational resource experience values are preserved
and fish stocks are mnmmintained for both subsistence
and personal use through what we call the sustained
yield principle. Many Alaskans rely on fish and fish
products for their nutritional, social, economc and
cultural well being. Wether the use is subsistence,
personal , conmmer ci al or recreational, t he
responsibility of [indisc.] harvest and allocation to
neet all of these needs is the m ssion of the Board of
Fi sheri es.

For over 40 years, the fish and gane departnent and
the Board of Fisheries have penalized the efficient
fishermen in the use of efficient technology as tools
of managenent. The world globalization has defined a
new conpetitive econony that Alaskans nust recognize
to participate and conpete with other nations for a
share of the world market.

To be a nenber of the Board of Fisheries is a constant
| ear ni ng process and can be both serious and rewarding
at the sane tinme: serious in that allocation decisions
i npact many Al askans. There is no other state in the
Uni on that has an equal denocratic system for
fisheries resource use and allocation as Al aska. W
have 82 advisory committees in the state. It is this
system that requires large tine segnents for board
menbers, user publics, and the professional staff to
satisfy human needs along with the needs of other
wildlife species that rely on fish stocks.

|"ve had a lifetinme career in Alaska's fisheries, both
as a biologist, an admnistrator, and | concur wth
the concept of orderly and w se nmanagenent practices,
nost inportantly, prudent application where these
animals live and they reproduce. Public renewable

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 3- May 7, 2003



resources, by their very nature, evoke political
rhetoric over allocation - who gets what and how much

There are no sinple answers to difficult allocation
questions but there are rules - in other words to be
fair to all concerned, to gather and use the best
information avail abl e, and be guided by sound judgnent
val ues.

My conmtnent to you, nenbers of the Senate Resources

Commi ttee, the Adm nistration, and all Al askans,
i ncl udes ny prom se to listen careful ly and
respectfully to all nmenbers of +the public before
making a decision. To the best of ny ability, ny
decisions wll always be based on sound science, a
need for conservation and sustained yield nmanagenent.
Once these <concerns have been addressed, | wll

certainly do ny best to make fair allocation decisions
that are in the best interest of the State of Al aska.
That conpletes ny statenent, M. Chairman.

SENATOR LI NCOLN asked M. Andrews what he views as the Board's
role in carrying out the state's mandate for a subsistence
priority.

MR. ANDREWS said that answer is easy: the Board nust follow
Al aska statutes and the Al aska Constitution.

SENATOR LINCOLN asked M. Andr ews i f he supports a
constitutional anendnent for rural subsistence and said the
choice to answer the question is his.

MR. ANDREWS said he certainly supports the public's right to
vote on a constitutional referendum which it has done several
tines.

SENATOR LINCOLN noted that M. Andrews, when he spoke about
al l ocation decisions, said he would use the best information
avai |l abl e and sound science. She mmintained that sonetines the
best information is not available and that the Board nust often
"dig" for it. She asked himto describe what he neans by "sound
sci ence. "

MR. ANDREWS said the brief answer is that sound science consists
of those principles of investigation: analysis [and] research

He said it is true that the Board does not have all of the
information and nust rely on the best information it has. He
said the business of fisheries managenent is not an exact

SENATE RES COW TTEE -4- May 7, 2003



science. He attended the very first Board of Fisheries neeting
in Novenber 1959 and has watched the Board and its
responsibilities grow and change. Wien he started with the State
of Alaska in 1959, there were no geoduck or sea wurchin
fisheries. The fisheries problenms have grown and becone
international in scope so the Board is now guided in part by
international treaties, such as the Pacific Salnmon Treaty. The
fisheries issue is a conplex and time consumng one and a
| earning process. He said he feels honored to be appointed by
Governor Miurkowski and he sees serving on the Board as the best
way to culmnate his fisheries career. He noted, regarding
i nprovenent of Alaska's marketing position, Alaska has an
advantage. Alaska fish are wld and cone from a pristine
environnment. He said when the Copper River sockeye hit Seattle
every summer, banners go up in all of the stores in the city. He
said that is the kind of marketing effort he envisions doing
nore of.

CHAIR OGAN asked M. Andrews if he was the director of the
Division of Sport Fish in the Al aska Departnent of Fish and Gane
( ADF&G) .

MR. ANDREWS said yes, for the last 13 years of his service.

CHAIR OGAN noted that M. Andrews attended a synposium on
rainbow trout in Yellowstone and asked his opinion of a
subsi stence fishery for rainbow trout. He pointed out the
federal subsistence board recently created one.

MR. ANDREWS said, speaking as a biologist, he believes it is a
bad idea, particularly westward, where rainbow trout are 8 to 12
years old. That is the reproduction and replacenent tinme for
that species and there are not that many of them They are
vulnerable to gillnets. He said they are too valuable to be
caught only once. He said in his view, subsistence should be
focused on stocks of |arge nunbers because subsi stence has been
an opportunistic situation since |long before statehood. The
subsi stence salnon fin fisheries have been for the high
popul ation fisheries.

CHAI R OGAN said he has heard from a nunber of people about that
issue. He also has sonme concerns about the federal subsistence
board's decision. He asked if rainbow trout can live up to 20
years.

MR. ANDREWS said he has never seen a scale that goes up to 20
years but he has seen scales up to 12 years.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 5- May 7, 2003



SENATOR WAGONER i ndicated the federal [subsistence board] has
just announced a subsistence halibut fishery that allows a catch
of 20 fish per day. He said commercial fishernmen don't often
catch that many. That decision is starting to worry himquite a
bit because if the state does not get a handle on subsistence
and the federal managenent of our fisheries, we'll be |ooking at
an allowable subsistence catch of 150 red salnon per day. He
asked M. Andrews what actions the Board can take to address
this problemand help bring it to closure.

MR. ANDREWS said Al aska |aw makes for |egal uses of fisheries,
subsi stence being a priority. Personal use has no priority. The
Board nmust follow the law in this case.

SENATOR WAGONER said in this case, the federal governnent nade
t he decision, not the Al aska Board of Fisheries.

MR. ANDREWS said there are subsistence statutes governing state
| ands and state waters. He believes the Board of Fisheries needs
to do a lot nore with its federal counterparts to get a better
managenment perspective and rationalization. He said, as an
exanpl e, the federal subsistence board allows subsistence trout
fishing in the standing waters and | akes in the Tongass Nati onal

Forest by hook and line. For 40 vyears, that was the Al aska
statutory definition of sport fishing. Ther ef or e, for
enforcenment purposes, it will be hard to tell who is subsistence

fishing and who is sport fishing, creating a serious enforcenent
problem He said prior to the passage of AN LCA subsistence
fishing was al ways done with the nost efficient gear - gillnets,
traps, or spears.

CHAIR OGAN said he agrees the state and federal boards need to
talk nmore and he hopes M. Andrews spearheads that effort.

SENATOR LI NCOLN commented that the solution to the subsistence
issue is in the legislature's court.

SENATOR SEEKINS asked M. Andrews what criteria the Board of
Fisheries wused in overturning the customary and traditional
(C&T) designation for the Chitina dipnet fishery and whether M.
Andrews agreed with that finding.

MR. ANDREWS said the vote to overturn the C&T designation was 4
to 3. He was one of the three who voted against the change. He
said the rationale behind the vote was that the Attorney Genera
advi sed the Board there had to have been an error in the |egal

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 6- May 7, 2003



handling of the 1999 decision. The Attorney General felt there
was no error. The Attorney Ceneral also said that in applying
the eight criteria, the Board needed to raise the bar when
changing a subsistence fishery to a personal use fishery. The
Board would actually be downgrading that fishery because
subsi stence has priority. The other criterion used was whether
new i nformati on was available. He said he listened to Dr. Hall's
report and did not believe there was any additional information
that warranted a change. He is aware the Chitina fishery is an
inportant one to a |arge nunber of people, particularly in the
Interior where residents do not have the sanme opportunities to
get salnon as coastal residents. He said the public owns the
resource and the people in Fairbanks and the Interior need the
opportunity to obtain the resources. He subscribes to the notion
that the best place for an Al askan salnmon is on an Al askan
di nner table.

SENATOR SEEKINS said people are now limted to one king sal non
per famly from the Copper R ver while the commercial fishery
shi pped out a record tonnage of commercially caught king sal non.
He asked, in terns of allocation, whether that is an issue the
Board of Fisheries needs to address.

MR. ANDREWS said it is. The Board is on a three-year cycle and
the allocation issue should be coming up within the next two
years.

SENATOR SEEKINS said he is pleased to see that M. Andrews would
not abrogate the people's right to vote on any kind of a
constitutional anendnent. He said he believes Al askans have the
right to vote on any properly introduced constitutional
anendnent and he would find it hard to vote for anyone who does
not support that constitutionally guaranteed provision.

SENATOR SEEKINS then noted that M. Andrews said Alaska |aw
pl aces subsistence use as the highest priority and says the
state cannot discrimnate against a subsistence user based on
where he or she lives. He asked, "I'm wondering where you put,
in terns of priority then, personal use versus conmercial use in
harnony with the Constitution.”

MR. ANDREWS replied, "M. Chairman, | don't think you want to go

there on that one - in other words priority one, priority two,
priority three.™

SENATE RES COW TTEE -7- May 7, 2003



SENATOR SEEKI NS said that many people tell himthey want to feed
their famly and question whether there should be a higher
priority for personal use than fish sold in the market.

MR. ANDREWS commented that he thinks allocation decisions are
made between commercial and recreational fisheries based on the
ability to harvest. 140 mllion salnon are harvested in the
state each year; the recreational fisheries do not have that
capacity. It is in the best interest of the state to give the
commercial fisheries sone priority.

SENATOR SEEKINS said he views a recreational fishery as a catch
and release fishery. He is referring to the personal use fishery
- providing for one's famly. He said the |ine between that and
subsi stence i s vague at tines.

MR. ANDREWS told nenbers that about 25 years ago, an |nupiat man
sat on the Board of Fish and Gane when a proposal on catch and
rel ease was put forward. He said Inupiats release fish that are
too small to eat; that was his idea of catch and rel ease.

CHAI R OGAN t hanked M. Andrews for his tine.

SENATOR WAGONER noved to forward M. Andrews' nane to the full
body for a confirmation vote.

CHAI R OGAN announced that w thout objection, the notion carried.
He then called an at-ease and, upon reconvening, announced the
commttee woul d take up HB 61.

CSHB 61(FIN)-O L & GAS TAX CREDI T FOR EXPLORATI ON DEV

REPRESENTATI VE M KE CHENAULT, sponsor of HB 61, told nenbers
this legislation creates a new income tax credit to encourage
i ncreased exploration and devel opnent for natural gas reserves
south of the Brooks Range. He explained that to qualify for the

credit, operators nust successfully drill and develop new
reserves and produce natural gas for sale and delivery. He
described HB 61 as a "successful efforts™ bill, nmeaning that no
credits will be given for dry holes or for wells that are

capped. He said the Cook Inlet and other areas in Al aska have
great potential but face high devel opnent costs and exploration
risk. By providing the credit for the successful efforts, nore

exploration will occur, leading to nmuch needed new natural gas
reserves. This will benefit the residents and businesses at no
direct cost to the state. Increased drilling wll also aid the

general economc status of areas such as the Kenai Peninsula,

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 8- May 7, 2003



and Anchorage. In his opinion, the increased tax revenue from
additional gas production wll nore than offset any fiscal
i npact fromthe proposed credit.

SENATOR SEEKINS referred to Version S and noted the definition
of a binding paynent agreenent on line 5. He asked whether that
is essentially an | QU

MR. MARK GRABER, Departnent of Revenue (DOR), said he interprets
a binding paynent agreenent to nean a contract for a future
pur chase.

SENATOR SEEKINS asked if DOR would consider a contract for a
future purchase as an expenditure in the exploration of natura
gas.

MR, CHUCK LOGSDON, DOR, said the binding agreenent would be a
contractual obligation to make a paynent.

CHAIR OGAN asked if there wuld have to be a contracted
expenditure for devel oping that particular field.

MR. LOGSDON said, "Yes, exactly."

SENATOR BEN STEVENS noted the bill refers to expenditures under
(a)(1) [page 2, line 5], in the anmpunt of 10 percent of the
taxpayer's qualified capital investnents; cash expenditures of
bi ndi ng paynent agreenents. He said he would interpret that to
be a binding paynent agreenent, which would be, for exanple, the
interest on a 10-year note for $10 mllion that an investor
borrowed, or the cost of borrow ng capital

SENATOR SEEKINS said he understands that but he could read this
to say that before he went into production, during the tine
frame when he could use the capital expenditures to get a 10
percent tax credit, if he were to have a binding paynent
agreenent down the line, he could ask for a 10 percent tax
credit on expenditures he had not yet nmade. He questioned
whet her that was the intent.

SENATOR BEN STEVENS said he interprets that clause to say 10
percent of the total investnments can be applied to the tax
credit. Therefore, the total investnent would be some cash plus
borrowed noney. The tax credit does not cone into effect unti

that investnent begins to produce revenue. In other words, the
cost of borrowing capital is included in the investnent cost
because one can forecast what the total paynents will be for the

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 9- May 7, 2003



investnment. He said he understands Senator Seekins' point that
the conpany will be taking a credit on sonething it has not yet
paid, but that is the cost of the investnent.

SENATOR SEEKINS said he would consider it to be the cost of the
investnment up wuntil the point that a well began producing.
However, if the noney borrowed also included the cost of
sonething for the devel opnent after the well began to produce,
that is outside the original intent.

SENATOR WAGONER said another point is that a conpany will have
financing for other aspects of the developnment, not just the
wel | .

CHAI R OGAN asked M. Logsdon his interpretation of that |anguage
on page 2, line 1, regarding future contracts.

MR. LOGSDON responded, "I think the discussion that preceded -
there's sonething different than a cash expenditure, the intent
is to cover the cost of acquiring the assets that allow the
devel opment of the gas field."

MR. KEVIN TABLER, manager of Union QO Conpany, thanked nenbers
for considering this legislation and inforned them that the
qualified capital investnments are listed in (i)(1) on page 3,
line 23. He then gave the follow ng testinony.

Al though [Union G I] recognizes this bill my inprove
the economcs of marginal oil reservoirs discovered or
defined while exploring for gas, it is the

identification and devel opnent of new gas reserves in
Cook Inlet which are desperately needed if we're going
to sustain our local econony in Southcentral Al aska
Wthout new gas reserves, value-added businesses and

i ndustri al exporters wi | | suffer cut backs in
production, yielding to the ever-present Southcentral
utility needs. These disruptions and supplies, left
unchecked, will | ead to a | ower t ax base,

unenpl oynent, underenpl oynent and | oss of the nonetary
cycling effect as dollars change hands throughout the
comunity.

| place an enphasis on Cook Inlet as Cook Inlet is
where Unocal's infrastructure base and nmanpower is
best [indisc.] Although we do have working interests
in fields on the North Slope, our ownership interest
there is such that we have a mnor role in the

SENATE RES COW TTEE -10- May 7, 2003



exploration and devel opnent of the operation of those
fields. Wile we recognize that incentives avail able
to North Slope explorers and producers wll have a
beneficial inmpact on Unocal, the beneficial inpact of
incentive legislation in Cook Inlet is magnified when
applied to the marginal nature of the nmature fields
and the declining gas reserve base in Cook Inlet. For
this reason, incentive legislation such as HB 61 wl|
hel p achieve that desired effect of identifying new
gas reserves by provi di ng a predi ct abl e and
gquantifiable credit to help lessen the inherent risk
of costly exploration. The increased tax revenue from
addi ti onal hydrocarbon production wll nore than
offset the initial financial inpact from the tax
credit. The objective is not to shift the larger share
of the existing pie to industry; rather the objective
is to increase the size of the pie for everyone.

Unocal's considerable stake in its Cook Inlet
infrastructure, manpower, and capital investnents is
continually threatened by internal global conpetition
for investnent dollars. Evidence of this vulnerability
is confirmed by the recent drilling of three dry hol es
on the Kenai Peninsula by Unocal in an effort to neet
the growi ng demand of the natural gas nmarket. Although
we were rewarded by a discovery in our N nilchik unit
with our partner, Marathon, an uncertainty of success

has reduced our capital budget from $75 million |ast
year down to $35 million in 2003. Providing us credits
for successful efforts wll definitely inprove the

attractiveness of our Al askan exploration projects.

Not only will HB 61 create an incentive for conpanies
currently active in gas exploration in Cook Inlet, the
attractiveness of such credit wll act as an industry
i ncentive to t hose t hi nki ng of i nvesting in
exploration south of the Brooks Range. If you think of
the credit as costing the state $1 for every $10
invested by soneone else and paid out only in a
success scenario, the risk to the State of Alaska is
negligible when conpared with the ancillary benefits
of new reserve identification.

In conclusion, Unocal believes this bill wll add
certain attractive paraneters to the conpanies during
the investnment decision-nmaking process wth very
little exposure to the State of Al aska. Therefore, we

SENATE RES COW TTEE -11- May 7, 2003



encourage your passage of this bill out of vyour
commttee. Thank you for the opportunity to speak and,
if I can, I will answer any questions you nay ask.

CHAIR OGAN noted that nmenbers had no questions. He then
continued taking testinony.

MR. JOHN BARNES, production manager of Marathon G| Conpany's
Al askan operations, thanked nenbers for the tinme they spent
earlier wth him discussing the bill. He <clarified that
Mar at hon's view of the definition of binding paynment agreenents
is that they could include two types of situations. The first
would be for progress paynents for a nmjor facility
installation, which often extend beyond the date of initial
production. He pointed out that one of the changes to the bill

made by a previous conmittee was on page 2, line 8. The
provision "through the date the reserves produce gas for sale
and delivery;" is a trigger point in the bill. If a conpany had

a binding progress that cane up after the initial gas, the
intent was to include that cost. Also, if a small operator is
unable to self-finance a project and seeks financing el sewhere,
the bill recognizes the paynent schene. He then gave a
Power poi nt presentation, the highlights of which foll ow.

e Marathon believes HB 61 wll draw nore exploration and
production investnents to the State of Al aska. The primry
focus is on the Cook Inlet, but it would apply to other
Al aska sedinentary basins that are south of the Brooks
Range. The focus is on natural gas for which there is
conpetition for funds on an international basis. The intent
istotilt the playing field toward Al aska's direction.

 HB 61 applies to 10 percent of qualified capital investnent
and 10 percent of qualified expenses. Looking at a
tinmeline, a producer mnmust explore and find gas, develop it,
and put it in initial production - four significant
hurdl es. The producer cannot apply for the credit until all
four hurdles have been overconme. This incentive can be
factored into project economcs. Wien a conpany is |ooking
at investnent opportunities, HB 61 lays out a tax credit,
allowing a conpany to see in black and white the cost of
doi ng busi ness in Al aska.

TAPE 03-42, SIDE B

SENATOR LINCOLN interrupted to note that Marathon G| describes
HB 61 as only applying to successful efforts and asked how it
defines "successful." She then asked what would happen if a

SENATE RES COW TTEE -12- May 7, 2003



di scovery ends up being very small and would not otherw se be
econom cal to get to narket.

MR. BARNES said the tax credit does not apply until the gas is
brought to nmarket so, while a conpany can accunulate the costs
of the funds expended up to the point of first production, if
the gas does not go to market, the state will not be inpacted at
all. He said "successful efforts”" is defined as at the point at
whi ch gas i s produced into the marketpl ace.

SENATOR LI NCOLN asked if the quantity does not matter, the only
thing that does matter is getting the gas to market.

MR. BARNES said the presunption would be that a conpany would
not invest in a non-economc project. The risk on capital is
much higher than the 10 percent credit. A conpany would nake
increnental decisions during each step of the exploration

devel opnent process, based on the belief it wll have a
successful project. If, at sone point, the project |ooks like an
unsound return, the conpany wll nost I|ikely decide not to
pr oceed.

CHAIR OGAN asked if a conpany drilled four wells off of one
platform and only found gas in one of the wells, whether the
conpany could take the investnment credit for the four wells.

MR. BARNES said the intent is to find new gas so if the platform
was a new installation, the entire cost cycle would be subject
to the tax credit for funds spent until first production. If the
well was a new discovery froman existing facility, credit would
only be given for the cost of that well.

CHAI R OGAN asked about workovers.
MR. BARNES sai d workovers are unlikely to be new reserves.

SENATOR DYSON asked if 10 wells are drilled from a jack-up rig
and one well produces comercial quality gas, whether a conpany
woul d get credit for the other nine.

MR. BARNES said that nost often in offshore production, a
conpany does a significant amount of forward spend prior to
first production, the reason being that a conpany wants to cone
on production at the highest rate possible. At the sanme tine, a
conpany is nmeking efforts to accelerate production. As witten

HB 61 woul d include all expenditures up until the point of first
production. Therefore, if a conpany drilled three wells before

SENATE RES COW TTEE -13- May 7, 2003



it put in an offshore pipeline, then the credit would include
all of those expenditures. He said although the state would
spend 10 percent, the conpany woul d be spendi ng 90 percent.

SENATOR DYSON asked if that would include the wells that don't
pr oduce.

MR. BARNES sai d he does not believe so.

SENATOR DYSON said M. Barnes could get back to him with a
definitive answer |ater. He asked, if M. Barnes determnes the
state will not give credit for the non-producing wells, whether
the cost of the jack-up rate woul d be prorated.

MR. BARNES said that is probably an unlikely event because a
jack-up will conme in and drill the exploration well and |eave.
The conpany would then put a facility on the property for full
devel opnent. A jack-up typically drills one or two wells on a
structure to explore and delineate so those would be included.
He stated:

This is probably a policy decision that would

basically say if you drill a top [indisc.] structure
well and you find sonmething and you drill down bel ow
and you don't, a conpany would see that as the cost of
devel opment. The State of Al aska mght not. | think,
after looking at it, | guess | struggle - | think it's
an interpretive issue right now. | don't know that

it's clearly defined in here.

SENATOR DYSON said the intent of HB 61 is to give credit for
expenditures that [ead to production.

MR. BARNES agr eed.
SENATOR DYSON stated, "If | may, and this is back to Senator
Lincoln, | think what she was getting at, the intention is here
that you get credit for expenditures that |lead to production.”
MR. BARNES said that is correct.
SENATOR DYSON conti nued:

| want it on the record that it is ny understanding of

what you said that all expenditures that don't lead to

production, you would not get a tax credit for and if
we ended up with an interpretation here or a court

SENATE RES COW TTEE -14- May 7, 2003



case in the future, that certainly would be the basis
on which I'mgoing to vote for your bill

MR. BARNES asked to clarify and stated:

Just trying to scan through nmy recollection of this

bill and then answer the questions as they cone up -
in actuality, on page 3 of [CSHB 61(FIN)- Version S|
that you should have in front of you, line 25 through

about 27 probably aligns with Senator Dyson's conmment
that it says, 'for real property or tangible persona
property wused in this state in the exploration and
devel opment of gas reserves in a gas reservoir....'
So, 'and developnent’ would inply that it's probably

only the successful wells so | would imgine that -
and again perhaps the Departnent of Revenue m ght
corment but if | were in their shoes those would be
coments - would line up with your words, so maybe

it's not so silent.

SENATOR LINCOLN said she reads that |anguage to nmean a conpany
woul d receive the tax credit on the total tax liability in the
state, regardless of how small the producing gas is. She asked
for verification or clarification.

MR. CGRABER, DOR, explained that the Al aska corporate net incone
tax is not calculated on a field or reservoir basis so the
credit would apply to a corporation's overall Alaska tax
liability. He said that DOR could not apply it [to a field] even
if it wanted to because a corporation's net incone liability in
Alaska is based on a percentage of its profits from its
wor | dwi de operati ons.

CHAIR OGAN referred to the list of wite-offs on page 4, and
asked if those itens nust be new or whether it applies to
existing itens.

MR. GRABER said his understanding, according to the |anguage on
page 2, line 7, is that the credit applies to new assets first
pl aced in service in Al aska.

MR. BARNES continued his presentation.

* HB 61 is needed because Alaska does not have nmnuch
exploration and production activity conpared to other areas
in the world. Natural gas reserves in the Cook Inlet are
continuing to decline. He referred to a chart of Cook Inlet

SENATE RES COW TTEE -15- May 7, 2003



proven gas reserves for the last 13 years from the
Department of Natural Resources (DNR) and said that proven
reserves are defined as those reserves in the ground that
have the highest confidence wth enough supporting data to
book those reserves through the Securities and Exchange
Comm ssion. In 1990, there was about 3500 bcf of gas in the
Cook Inlet basin. From 1995 to 1997, the reserves increased
but only due to a recalculation based on data on
per f or mance on exi sting reservoirs. After t hat
recal cul ation was done, the reserves continued to decline
to 2000 bcf |ast year.

e Deliverability is the rate at which gas can be produced. A
chart on slide 7 conpares supply and demand for the Cook
Inlet gas production. In 1997, Cook Inlet could produce
about 900 ntf per day - a world-class volune. By 2003,
production declined to 663 ncf per day. The demand is just
over 800 ntf per day so there is now a shortfall.

e Supply and demand rationalization is occurring due to the
fact there is not enough gas to feed the low price
consuner. The gas price is increasing, which has caused
further issues with industrial consuners.

SENATOR DYSON asked for the definition of WACOG

MR. BARNES explained WACOG is an acronym for the weighted
average cost of gas. That is the average price that Enstar pays
to purchase gas from producers. Right now, the WACOG is about
$2.55 per ntf. The Henry Hub price is a mark-up price for the
Lower 48 gas markets. That price fluctuates; recently it was
$9.00 per ntf. He said that Enstar has contracted to purchase
gas with a floor of $2.75 with an upside price of a rolling
average. He assunes other contracts will reflect that sane price
regi ne.

SENATOR DYSON asked if sonme custonmers were unable to get gas in
2003 because of the shortfall.

MR. BARNES said in 2003 there were industrial curtailnments. The
average consuner cones first and then there is a hierarchy based
on price and contracts for utilities.

SENATOR DYSON asked who did not get gas.

MR. BARNES replied, "Agrium"

CHAIR OGAN asked if LNGis tied to the Henry Hub.

SENATE RES COW TTEE -16- May 7, 2003



MR. BARNES replied:

LNG is tied to a landed price in Japan. There's a
contract there. And then there's the State of Al aska
royalty fornmula that calculates the netback for which
royalties are paid. So the LNG does fluctuate based on
a world market price scenario - not Henry Hub though.

CHAIR OGAN asked if the rough split of who gets what gas is
about one-third LNG one-third Agrium and one-third consuner.

MR. BARNES said that is a rough approxi mation.

CHAIR OGAN asked if the consunmer price is about $2.55 and
everyone else's price is |ower.

MR. BARNES said that is correct and is a function of |egacy
contracts. He explained the Cook Inlet has a famly of contracts
in place. Wen there was an oversupply of gas 20 years ago, gas
was signed for long-term conmtnents at very low prices. The
industrials, Enstar and Chugach Electric signed sone contracts.
Supply and demand has shifted. There is a contract opening and
Enstar has an wunnet requirenment that was not previously
contract ed. They are signing increnental contracts and,
reflective of price conditions, new contracts are at higher
prices.

SENATOR LINCOLN referred to the supply and demand chart and
comented that she expected to see a fluctuation in demand
during the tine period from 1997 to 2003. She asked why demand
remai ned consi stent over six years.

MR. BARNES said that represents the peak requirenent that occurs
on the coldest day of the year. That is when Enstar, Chugach
Electric and the industrials take their maxi mrum daily
requi renents. He said there has been a snall anount of growh in
the Anchorage econony. Enstar typically forecasts about 1 to 2
percent growth per year. The average demand is going up but it
peaks seasonally so the total requirenent on the graph
represents what happened on the col dest day of the year.

CHAIR OGAN noted other areas of the country warehouse gas to
nmeet peak demands but no one is doing that in Al aska.

MR. BARNES said no one currently has gas storage avail able,
al t hough that possibility has been di scussed.

SENATE RES COW TTEE -17- May 7, 2003



He then continued with his presentation.

e The current proven reserves in Cook Inlet are 2000 bcf,
with a 10-year production life that will decline over tine.
Mar ket forces will affect rate declines but, on an absolute
basis, the production life is typically represented as 10
years. Various governnment entities and private groups have
estimated the probable reserves at 1050 bcf and the
possible reserves at 2100 bcf. The chance of finding
probable reserves is less than 50 percent; the chance of
finding possible reserves is less than 10 or 20 percent.
Therefore, a potential opportunity of 3150 bcf exists.

CHAI R OGAN asked who provi ded those figures.

MR. BARNES said the Potential Gas Committee, an industry group,
provided the nunbers. That commttee |ooks at natural gas
resources across various basins in the United States; it is
funded by private and public dollars. The Mnerals Managenent
Servi ce has done other studies. The nunbers typically range from
1000 to 3000 bcf. He believes that nunber excludes non-
conventional resources, such as coal bed nethane or other
alternatives that may be there. He said he does not recal
seei ng any nunbers from DNR

CHAIR OGAN asked if there are any bookable proven reserves at
this point.

MR. BARNES said there are not. He then conti nued.

* Regarding the inpacts of HB 61 on the State of Alaska, it
shoul d stinmulate Cook Inlet and other basin exploration. It
will aid in mintaining the Cook Inlet 200+ bcf/year
production, the equivalent of a 13th nonth of North Sl ope
production. He said the state is proud of North Slope
production but should also be proud of Cook Inlet gas
production. HB 61 should provide gas for the Cook Inlet
utilities, industrials, jobs, royalties, and taxes.

e Marathon believes the fiscal inpact to the State of Al aska
will be positive. Both fiscal notes show a zero fiscal
i npact but discuss the difficulty of estimating the outcone
of discoveries. Sone of the factors that nmake the positive
inpact difficult to estimate are the nunber of devel opnents
that will be "incentivized," what new work wi ||l happen, how
much gas wll be discovered, the royalty value, and how
much wi Il be spent for exploration and devel opnent.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 18- May 7, 2003



 The table entitled Fiscal Inpact to State of Alaska is
based on the followng assunptions: a varied field size
fromzero to 500 bcf, devel opnent cost of 50 cents per ntf,
royalty at 12.5 percent, severance tax at 7.5 percent, ad
valorem tax at 2.7 percent, and a gas sales price at $2.50
per ncf. For exanple, if an operator were to find a field
size of 50 bcf, the operator would spend about $25 mllion.
The tax credit would anount to $2.5 mllion. The gross
revenue to the state would be $125 nillion. Royalty on a

state |l ease at 12.5 percent would equal $15.6 mllion. The
severance tax at 7.5 percent would equal $9.3 mllion and
the ad valorem tax would amount to about $1 nmillion. The
total tax take would equal $26 mllion. Therefore, an
operator would spend $25 mllion to find, develop and sell
gas. That operator is eligible for a $2.5 mllion credit.
The state would ultimately receive $26 mllion. Therefore,
$25 mllion was originally invested in the state and $26
mllion is received |later.

MR. BARNES said based on his conceptual nodel, the State of
Al aska could receive from $3 to $10 of additional revenue for
each $1 of tax credit. The $3 ampbunt is the |owest amount for a
di scovery not on state |eased property. The state would still
receive severance tax and other funds. Marathon believes this
credit is needed now. There is not enough exploration in the
Cook Inlet right now to neet demand. If the Cook Inlet burns 200
bcf per year at 50 cents per ncf, at least $100 million per year
needs to be consistently spent on natural gas devel opment. A | ot
of nmoney is spent on offshore oil operations in the Inlet. O her
areas of the state would also benefit from exploration and
devel opnent, for exanple the Nenana Basin. Finally, new
di scoveries take about 3 to 5 years to bring gas to market.

MR. BARNES told nenbers that to neasure whether HB 61 has been a
success, the state should look to see whether |ease activity,
drilling activity, construction activity and producti on
increased. The credits apply to incone tax so they wll only
apply to conpanies already in business and paying taxes in the
state. He repeated that for every $1 spent by the state, $10
will be spent to find and devel op new reserves.

CHAI R OGAN asked M. Barnes to suggest a tinmefranme for neasuring
success.

MR. BARNES said it will take tine for industry to react. He said

if a conmpany already has a |ease, the conpany will have to do
seismc testing. Then it wll have to progress the project

SENATE RES COW TTEE -19- May 7, 2003



through the corporation to get it funded. He said nobst conpanies
are now nmnultinational; projects are judged against other
wor | dwi de investnment opportunities. He hoped the state would
begin to see early indicators in the next year or twd. Sone
conpanies are already exploring but not on a high, sustained
|l evel . He said he hopes, after three to five years, the state
coul d see increased activity.

CHAI R OGAN said he has considered adding a sunset provision to
the bill to require the legislature to review whether the
program has been successful.

MR. BARNES said 10 years equals about two to three investnent
cycles for a conpany. He said if no activity is occurring after
five years, the state mght review whether this is the correct
incentive to use. Marathon believes a 10-year cycle is best
because it takes three years from discovery to first gas, and
the | ease work, seismc, and permt approvals take a few years.
He believes five years would not be |ong enough.

SENATOR BEN STEVENS said the commttee was provided information
about collective ownership of various fields in Cook Inlet. He
noted that Marathon owns 100 percent of several fields and is a
partner in a few multiple and joint ownership fields. He asked
how the tax credit would be delineated when nultiple owners
invest in a field.

MR. BARNES expl ai ned that nost field productions are not held in
limted Iliability corporations. They operate wunder a joint
operating agreenent controlled by the State of Al aska in nost
cases. In that agreenent, ownership is defined by percentage.
Funds are invested along those percentages, earnings are made
al ong those percentages and then royalty is paid. In this type
of an ownership nodel, conpanies would pay taxes individually
and invest individually. They know how nuch noney they spent in
a field that would qualify.

SENATOR BEN STEVENS asked if that would be part of the conponent
mentioned in subsection (d) on page 2, line 24, which addresses
a subscribed form designed by the departnent. He asked if that
form exi sts now.

MR, LOGSDON said docunentation of the joint operating agreenent

woul d substantiate the ampunt of the investnent. Wether that
woul d be concluded in the formis sonething DOR woul d exani ne.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 20- May 7, 2003



SENATOR BEN STEVENS asked if M. Logsdon's office would be
devel opi ng that form

MR, LOGSDON said it would. DOR will develop this form associ at ed
with this tax credit for inclusion with the tax return.

SENATOR BEN STEVENS asked if DOR approves the operating
agr eenent s.

MR, LOGSDON said DNR would approve the operating agreenents,
which would also be subject to the Alaska GOl and Gas
Conservati on Comm ssion's t echni cal producti on conpl i ance
requirenents.

CHAIR OGAN thanked M. Barnes. He then asked M. Logsdon to
brief the commttee on DOR s fiscal note.

MR, LOGSDON stated the Admnistration neither supports nor
opposes the bill. DOR prepared a fiscal note because there are
some uncertainties. He pointed out that HB 61 is not exactly the
same as the federal investnent tax credit but it provides a 10
percent credit on qualified capital investnent. It also includes
qualified services, which are defined in the bill. He said one
guestion that was addressed in the fiscal note is that the
corporate income tax liability in the State of Al aska is not
specific to an apportioned anount of federal net inconme. He said
the main uncertainty is the nunber of credits that will be taken
and to what extent narket forces alone will affect activity. In
bal ancing the two, DOR elected to calculate a zero fiscal note.

CHAIR OGAN cited the last two sentences in the fiscal note,
which reads, "A risk to the state is high if gas prices spur
devel opment on their own regardless of the tax credit. The state
could be in the position of providing a tax credit that is no
| onger necessary to pronote developnent.” He asked if DOR has
had an opportunity to review the nodels provided by M. Barnes
in which the state would receive $10 for every $1 spent.

MR. LOGSDON said he has and that M. Barnes' cal cul ations of the
potential benefits are correct. H's point was that the only real
risk, which applies to any tax credit, is that the anmount of
activity attributed to the incentives m ght have happened anyway
due to market forces.

SENATOR LINCOLN said, in her mnd, a neutral position on

| egislation inplies problenms with the bill. She asked if the
Chair plans to hold the bill in commttee.

SENATE RES COW TTEE -21- May 7, 2003



CHAIR OGAN said he plans to recess to the call of the Chair and
l et nmenbers consider the legislation over night. He asked
menbers to consider placing a sunset provision in the bill based
on the departnent's fiscal note. He said he would rather let the
mar ket drive devel opnent. He pointed out that artificially |ow
prices on contracts are affecting the Cook Inlet market right
now. He believes the Regulatory Commission's action to tie the
price to the Henry Hub was hel pful.

In response to Senator Lincoln's coment, SENATOR BEN STEVENS
said his position is that CSHB 61(FIN) is a major policy call
for the legislature to make, not the inplenenters. He thinks
this policy call should be based on whether it wll create
incentives for investnent. To do that, the |egislature nust
weigh the positives and negatives of the incentive. It wll
provide a 10 percent credit against the investnent cost only to
an investnent that wll generate revenue. Therefore, the
positive of the incentive is that it creates a royalty stream a
severance tax, and additional property tax. The incentive wl
only be provided if a conpany produces revenue.

TAPE 03-43, SIDE A

SENATOR BEN STEVENS said he strongly supports novenent of the
bill. He views the fiscal note as indeterm nate on the up side.

CHAIR OGAN said he too supports investnent tax credits. He
decided to expand his own business based on a federal tax
credit. He supports this legislation and would like to see it
pass as soon as possible. He then recessed the neeting to the
call of the Chair at 5:17 p. m

SENATE RES COW TTEE -22- May 7, 2003



